FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/17/2022 3:50 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 101184-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHANAREL DEMENT fka SHANAREL ANCHETA,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Court of Appeals No. 82859-2-I

King County Superior Court No. 20-2-16178-1 KNT

CHARLES GREENBERG WSBA# 17661 TRIAD LAW GROUP 209 Dayton Street, Suite 105 Edmonds, WA 98020 Telephone: (425) 774-0138 cmg@triadlawgroup.com :

i

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Ms. Shanarel Dement fka Shanarel Ancheta, is a Washington State Registered Nurse and the former owner of All Heart Adult Family Home, LLC. While working with FG, Ms. Dement also worked closely with Ms. Beth Newell, FG's Mental Health Counselor (MHC) and with Ms. Baumann, FG's Department-Home Community Services (hereinafter "HCS") case manager.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Ms. Dement seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision pursuant to RAP 13.4 based on the following issues:

- A. Did the Court of Appeals fail to recognize that Ms. Dement's not calling 911 or Law Enforcement (L.E) was not raised in the Complaint and that adding it later as part of the ruling violates Ms. Dement's due process rights ?
- B. Did the Appeals Court consider that RCW 74.34.020 (16)(b) is subject to a variety of interpretations that do not provide notice to an objective reader of measurable acts

to perform or avoid and interpreted of what might happen. Did Ms. Dement's constitutional due process rights suffer because the Department interpreted this law based solely on its opinion and by relying on an unregulated term to conclude that FG was in supervision and in caregiver's line of sight ?

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Ms. Dement seeks this Court's review of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, in Case No. 82859-2-I, filed on June 13, 2022, affirming that Ms. Dement violated RCW 74.34.020 (16) (b). A copy of the Court of Appeals' decision is appended hereto as Attachment "A". A copy of the order denying petitioner's motion for reconsideration is appended hereto as Attachment "B".

IV. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

 Review should be granted when the Court of Appeals and the Superior Court accepted the argument of the Department that Ms. Dement failed to call Law Enforcement even though the Administrative Court and the DSHS-Board of Appeals has been silent on this issue. In doing so the Court denied Ms. Dement's procedural due process in violation of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. COA App. Reply Brief Appendix A pg. 21.

2. Additionally, Review should be granted because to do otherwise violates Ms. Dement's Constitutional due process rights to be given proper notice as to the application of RCW 74.34.020(16) (b). The law must be specific, not ambiguous, not misleading and one must know what he can do and what he cannot do. The Court of Appeals ignored Ms. Dement's arguments that RCW 74.34.020 (16) (b) does not provide proper notice or inform the reader of objective measurable acts to perform or refrain from doing. The statue is vague as written and as applied and a vague law is unconstitutional.

V. ARGUMENT I

THE DEPARTMENT'S COMPLAINT

"On or about April, a vulnerable adult eloped from your adult family home. You did not follow the vulnerable adult's care plan, which stated the vulnerable adult **"is to be within line of sight and supervised when going outside the AFH." You allowed the vulnerable adult to leave the AFH without staff supervision to go to the store several blocks away. The vulnerable adult did not return and became a missing person. Your actions placed the vulnerable adult in clear and present danger." CP 270-272.**

A. The Court of Appeals concluded that Ms. Dement

failed to report to the Law Enforcement/911so as to locate and

assist FG for 12 hours while FG was out in the community.

This Court overruled the Administrative Law Judge's

decision not to hear the issue of calling of 911 or Law

Enforcement.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the ruling as follows: The finding was based on Dement's failure to supervise a resident at her adult family home who left the home unattended and her subsequent failure to contact police for nearly twelve hours after she learned of his elopement. The DSHS Board of Appeals applied the proper legal standard and the finding of neglect is supported by substantial evidence. Accordingly, we affirm. Appendix A page 1

The Court of Appeals cited, two of Dement's three assignments of error presented in her opening brief to expressly challenge the ruling by the King County Superior Court in affirming the neglect finding. <u>However, Tapper makes clear that we do not</u> <u>review the actions of the Superior Court.</u> Appendix A page 5-6.

The Court of Appeals further states:

Next, under Washington's Administrative Procedure Act (WAPA), RCW 34.05.570 governs judicial review of the final agency action. "In reviewing administrative action, this court sits in the same position as the superior court, applying the standards of the WAPA directly to the record before the agency." Tapper v. Emp't Sec. Dep't, 122 Wn.2d 397, 402, 858 P.2d 494 (1993). "The WAPA allows a reviewing court to reverse an administrative decision when, interalia: (1) the administrative decision is based on an error of law; (2) the decision is not based on substantial evidence; or (3) the decision is arbitrary or capricious. The party challenging an agency's action must demonstrate that the action was invalid. RCW 34.05.570(1)(a). Appendix A page 5

Ms. Dement's fundamental rights to be given Notice and

be heard were trampled by the hearing procedures employed by

the Superior Court and the Court of Appeal. Ms. Dement was

not accused of failing to call or report to the Law Enforcement /911. See Complaint CP 270. Ms. Dement argues that the Court of Appeals affirmed the findings of the Superior Court¹ and reversed the Administrative Law Judge's decision in denying calling or reporting issue and by doing so the Appeal Court denied the Constitutional Due Process rights of Ms. Dement to be put on notice and defend herself. "The WAPA allows a reviewing court to reverse an administrative decision when, inter alia: (1) the administrative decision is based on an error of law. Here the decision of the Administrative Law Judge was not based on an error of law, the ALJ was protecting the due process right of Ms. Dement. Tapper makes clear that this court does not review the actions of the Superior Court, but this Court adopted the Order of the Superior Court by concluding that Ms. Dement failed to call or report to the Law Enforcement/911.

¹ June 11,2021 Superior Court hearing Transcript *COA Petitioner's Opening Brief Appendix B pages 21 line 4-14.*

A litigant in civil proceedings is entitled to a fair hearing, imbued with the protections of due process. The due process guarantee expressed in the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution requires assurances of fundamental fairness during legal proceedings. See U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1.

The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court.

In re Ruffalo, 390 U.S. 544 (1968), the *Court held:* The lack of notice to petitioner, prior to the time he and Orlando testified, that petitioner's employment of Orlando would be considered a disbarment offense deprived petitioner of procedural due process. <u>Pp. 390 U. S. 547</u>-552. Petitioner had no notice that his employment of Orlando would be considered a disbarment offense until after both petitioner and Orlando had testified. <u>Pp. 390 U. S. 550</u>-551.

In this case, Ms. Dement had no notice during the proceeding, the ALJ denied hearing the Department's issue

against Ms. Dement for not calling 911 or the Law Enforcement because it was not in the Complaint, and it deprive petitioner of procedural due process.

Also consider Fuentes v. Shevin, 407 U.S. 67, 81 (1972). At times, the Court has also stressed the dignitary importance of procedural rights, the worth of being able to defend one's interests even if one cannot change the result. In this case, Ms. Dement is defending her right to retain her AFH license and her professional license if found to have violated the RCW 74.3.020 (16) (b). The clause also promises that before depriving a citizen of life, liberty or property, government must follow fair procedures. Thus, it is not always enough for the government just to act in accordance with whatever law there may happen to be. Citizens may also be entitled to have the government observe or offer fair procedures, whether or not those procedures have been provided for in the law on the basis of which it is acting. Action denying the process that is "due" would be unconstitutional.

The Court of Appeals also failed to hold the Department responsible for knowingly and willfully using an incorrect writing knowing the same to contain incorrect statements² which led to an improper decision.

Department used the term "in the line of sight" which is outside of the contours of WAC 388-106-0010. This violates the due process rights of Ms. Dement when it modified her duties as to FG. <u>In accepting this term, the Court is enforcing an</u> <u>unenforceable rule.</u> The Department utilizes regulated terms of the ADL³ Self-Performance Code Definitions of the WAC 388-106-0010. These regulated terms have specific meanings. The regulated terms establish the level of care (LOC) and the daily rate paid to the AFH. Per the Assessment and Negotiated Care Plan, FG was on "supervision and per client request" assistance as the given task for the adult family home (AFH). CP 296, CP 300, COA App. Brief page 6. <u>The "within caregiver's line of</u>

² DSHS used the unregulated term " *"is to be within line of sight*" in the Complaint. ³ Activity of Daily Living <u>sight" concept is applied only during an AFH Emergency</u> <u>Evacuation</u>. CP 300, CP 44 ¶ 26, COA App. Brief pg. 6. The "supervision and be escorted daily at Treatment Mall" was a Western State Hospital (WSH) task. CP 300, CP 387, CP 468.COA App. Brief page 6

The Court appears to have failed to recognize that the Assessment contained tasks that were designed for an entirely different facility and in doing so created the confusion in court.

Here, the Court decided to hear the reporting issue (to LE or 911 of the Department) and concluded that Ms. Dement was tasked to provide a caregiver to supervise FG in the community. The Court also accepted the incorrect or unregulated task demanded by the Department APS but not by the Department of HCS⁴, and this led the Court to make the wrong decision. In its decision, the Court failed to protect Ms. Dement's fundamental right to due process.

⁴ The creator of FG's assessment.

In Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. 254 (1970), the Court held as follows: Procedural due process applies to welfare recipients at risk of losing their benefits. Welfare is a statutory entitlement and can be considered property. State officials must conduct an evidentiary hearing prior to ending someone's benefits. Supreme Court, Justice Black wrote that the Court's findings amounted to a decision about what would be "fair and humane procedure" for terminating benefits, rather than an exercise in applying the text of the Constitution or past decisions.

In Dement, Department violated its own WAC 388-76-10330 (1) for not providing Ms. Dement an accurate assessment (the Department mixed the duty of the Western State Hospital and the AFH Assessment for FG). After the escape of FG, the Department filed a Complaint that contains unregulated or inaccurate term to survive the "Neglect Law." This complaint also did not give Ms. Dement notice regarding the Department case issue for failure to call 911/Law Enforcement. The Due

Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment reads, "nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." Ms. Dement AFH and professional license are property, she has the right to be given notice. <u>It is</u> <u>necessary for the government to follow the proper process</u> <u>before taking actions that affected a citizen adversely.</u> Unfortunately, the Department chose seemingly to cause to continue its quest for Ms. Dement downfall.

VI. ARGUMENT II

B. RCW 74.34.20(16)(b) utilizes the phrase "demonstrates a serious disregard of consequences of such a magnitude as to constitute a clear and present danger to the vulnerable adult's health, welfare, or safety" leaving to the reader to grapple with the interpretation of what limits exist to the reader. **Not only the person interpreting the meaning based on his/her experience, but the authority is also to be interpreted based on his/her experience**. This law does not refer to something that may happen. Whatever the danger is

must be "clear and present" as well as be capable of creating harm to something that may happen. Whatever the danger is it must be "clear and present" as well as being capable of creating harm to the clients of such a magnitude as to create a danger to his client's health, welfare, or safety.

THE STATUTE

RCW 74.34.020 (16) (b) provide as follows: an act or omission by a person or entity with a duty of care that demonstrates a serious disregard of consequences of such a magnitude as to constitute a clear and present danger to the vulnerable adult's health, welfare, or safety, including but not limited to conduct prohibited under RCW 9A.42.100.

Here, the Department -HCS' Assessment was inaccurate

which expressly violated the WAC 388-76-10330 (1).⁵ The

Assessment was created to cover two (2) entirely different types

of facility, an unlocked and unguarded Adult Family Home

(AFH) and a heavily guarded, locked Western State Hospital.

COA App. Brief pg. 2, CP 300, CP 468.

⁵ (1) which states that the DSHS is obligated to create an accurate assessment.

The Department-HCS created the Assessment for FG and demanded that Ms. Dement provide assistance as " per client request" only when FG went for a short distance walk because FG was on supervision. COA App. Brief pg. 2-3, CP 296, CP 300. The Department-HCS did not correct the errors in the Assessment that called for FG to be escorted whenever he goes to the treatment mall which has elevators at the Western State Hospital. Due to the vagueness of the statute, Department-APS went far beyond the actual task required for Dement to perform in assisting FG regarding the short distance walk.

The statute can be easily misinterpreted in a variety of ways. The Department-APS interpreted the statute based on its opinion and it used an unregulated term: " in the caregiver's line of sight" which means one on one or follow the vulnerable adult everywhere he goes so as to survive the "Neglect" moniker.

The Department APS ignored the true meaning of the term "in line of sight," which was to aid FG on Emergency Evacuation of the AFH. CP 300, CP 44 ¶ 26. Department APS ignored the fact that Ms. Dement's task per the Assessment and NCP was clearly to give assistance "**per client's request** " only. CP 296, CP 300.

The Department's Complaint created a false finding when the Department interpreted RCW 74.34.020 (16) (b) and used an unregulated undefined term in its interpretation of the Law to satisfy the statute. Essentially, the Department had used the unregulated term in all court hearings then on April 21, 2022, at the Court of Appeals Oral Argument, the Department admitted in Court that the Department had "No" level of care known as " in line of sight or one on one."⁶ The Court used the sentence " allowed FG into the community unsupervised and

⁶ The use of the unregulated term as " in line of sight or one on one." in the complaint and in court is a lack of candor in court designed to mislead the courts.

leaving him there without a law enforcement ⁷ search for twelve hours" These statements are not supported by evidence.

To be enforceable a law must be written so that the party reading the law clearly understands what limits are being placed on the reader or when a specific task is required (or not required.) No arrangement like this should require an interpretation by the reader. RCW 74.34.20(16)(b) utilizes the phrase "demonstrates a serious disregard of consequences of such a magnitude as to constitute a clear and present danger to the vulnerable adult's health, welfare, or safety" leaving the interpretation of how this phrase is read to the reader.

RCW 74.34.020 (16) (b) does not provide information that is necessary to give proper notice to the reader regarding measurable acts to be performed or to be avoided, only a method for DSHS to address acts by caregivers for things not covered by Law or the WAC regardless of the outcome. It is based on the opinion of the reader versus the opinion of the

⁷ The Court concluded Ms. Dement failed to call, report or inform the Law Enforcer/911

State. see Skidmore v. Swift & Co., 323 U.S. 134 (1944), where

the court held as follows.

In Skidmore v. Swift & Company it was decided that an agency's interpretation of the law is less important than its expertise and knowledge in a particular area. In other words, an agency's interpretation of the law can be outweighed by its lack of understanding and experience, and therefore, other factors, such as interested parties with expertise, can come into play when deciding how a rule or law is being interpreted. In federal administrative law, this is referred to as the Skidmore deference. The Skidmore deference is when the courts give those with the most expertise in a specific area more weight in the interpretation of the law and do not rely on the agency alone to decide what the law means.

This case serves as an example. On April 13, 2019, while Ms. Dement was at her church, her caregiver on duty told FG that he couldn't go out because Ms. Dement was not home. As usual FG exercised his right as decision maker in his own right⁸ and went out for his short distance walk. CP 345 ¶ 8 and 9, CP

⁸ The action of FG is supported by the 2018 Superior Court order that FG is responsible for his own health and safety in the community. The Rights are created because they relate to deeply important issues that are "central to personal dignity"—and about which the Court believes people should be able to make their own decisions without "compulsion of the State". CP 345 ¶ 8 and 9, CP 41

41. At 12:30 P.M, Ms. Dement called and informed the Valley Cities Mental Health Clinic (VCMHC) and Ms. Dement was advised to decide on her own how and when to involve the police because Ms. Newell, MHC was on vacation. CP 428. COA App. Brief pg. 9.

Ms. Dement is an RN and was part of the VCMHC team and she and the VCMHC Team were preparing FG to be released into the community. She had known that FG always came home after his routine walks. Sometimes he would come home late in the day like 10:00 P.M and the MHC was satisfied as to his forward progress. CP 277, 412, 413, 419. COA App. Brief pg. 7. FG also had been making progress as far as trusting Ms. Dement and the Mental Health Team. CP 277, 412-413, 428, CP 54 ¶ 74-77, CP 55 ¶ 78, CP 56 ¶ 81. COA App. Brief pg. 7-8-. The Department was well aware regarding the walking issues of FG and despite this did not change the level of care of FG. CP 277, CP 56 ¶ 81, CP 58 ¶ 88. COA App. Brief pg. 8.

Ms. Dement believed that FG would not leave the home because FG was already close to end of his commitment. COA App. Brief pg. 42. Upon leaving FG also left his backpack and his radio. CP 409, COA App. Brief pg.44. As per Department evidence, Ms. Newell's letter stated that Ms. Dement had called the Valley Mental Health Clinic (VMHC) and Ms. Dement had spoken with the VMHC's staff that informed her that Ms. Newell was out of town. CP 428, COA App. Brief pg. 9. As per Department evidence, Department-HCS candidly admitted she was also informed and that Ms. Dement was following the protocol. CP 425, COA App. Brief pg. 10. Ms. Dement had not only a duty to FG but she has a duty to prevent FG from experiencing a detrimental event that might occur if confronted by the police. Ms. Dement had to consider the behavior of FG that he was sensitive and resistive to authority, Ms. Dement elected to wait for FG and to not immediately involve the police, knowing it would likely become detrimental to FG's mental health treatment. When Ms. Dement was not able to find

FG, she drove to the police station and reported. CP 436, CP 50 ¶ 54, COA App. Brief pg. 9. After 2 months FG was found in Oregon intoxicated and was taken to the Oregon Hospital where he was examined by a medical professional, and it was determined that there was nothing wrong and was released in the community of Oregon. CP 407, 410. COA App. Brief pg. 44.

Ms. Dement believes that there was no neglect as defined by this statute but a neglect elsewhere because the statute does not specifically guide or inform the reader what the person supposed to do and not to do. See Skidmore v. Swift & Co., 323 U.S. 134 (1944).

Frankly, the Court's finding did not support the evidence. The Court found that Ms. Dement neglected FG based on its opinion and how the Department presented this case is based on the unregulated term used to task Ms. Dement.

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