FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/22/2022 1:52 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101184-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHANAREL DEMENT,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL & HEALTH SERVICES,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Treated as an Answer to Petition for Review

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

PATRICIA L. ALLEN Assistant Attorney General WSBA #27109 Office of the Attorney General 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 587-4260

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

Ms. Dement also claims that she should not have been expected to call 911 sooner because the neglect statute does not

specify that action. Pet. Rev. at 20. But neglect is a concept based on the needs of the vulnerable adult and the knowledge of the caregiver. RCW 74.34.020(16)(b). Ms. Dement voluntarily undertook to care for F.G. in exchange for compensation, and so agreed to provide him care that was not negligent. RCW 70.128.010(1); CP 544-56, 588-90.

Ms. Dement's claim that lack of payment for another caregiver relieves her of a neglect finding is unavailing. Pet. Rev. at 21-22. The statute does not enquire into care arrangements, but expects any such arrangement to safeguard the vulnerable adult's health, safety, and welfare. RCW 74.34.020(16)(b). Ms. Dement was fully apprised of F.G.'s care needs in advance and was free to reject him as a client. CP 544-56.

Ms. Dement also argues that she did not need to heed the CARE plan because it "mixed the duty of the Western State Hospital and the AFH Assessment for F.G." Pet. Rev. at 11, 13. However, despite some lack of fit with her adult family home

due to the plan being first developed while F.G. was at Western State, the CARE plan identified Ms. Dement as the care provider and indicated he needed supervision outside of the facility. CP 545-56. She was aware of F.G.'s specific vulnerabilities, because the CARE plan stated he should not be alone outside the home. CP 550, 553-54. Furthermore, Ms. Dement knew F.G. wanted to travel to Oregon, and that he had money to do so. CP 607-08, 610, 614-15, 821. "It was her decision, knowing these things, to let F. G. out unsupervised and then delay notifying the authorities that presented the clear and present danger to F.G." CP 604, 606-07, 637-38. Substantial evidence shows Ms. Dement neglected F.G. under RCW 74.34.020(16)(b). Ms. Dement has shown no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).

C. Ms. Dement Received Full Due Process Protections

Ms. Dement was notified in writing that "on or about April 13, 2019" she neglected F.G. because:

You allowed the vulnerable adult to leave the AFH without staff supervision to go to the store several blocks away. The vulnerable adult did not return,

and became a missing person. Your actions placed the vulnerable adult in clear and present danger.

CP 399. Ms. Dement challenged this finding, and received a full evidentiary hearing. CP 252, 400, 558-761. She received a written decision based on the evidence in the record, challenged that decision, and received a final agency decision, the Final Order, on October 22, 2020. CP 134-70, 176-78, 189-222.

Despite all of these procedural steps, Ms. Dement argues she was denied due process because the Court of Appeals considered her failure to call 911, claiming that this fact was not considered at the administrative hearing and was not part of the neglect finding. Pet. Rev. at 1-6, 10, 16. But Ms. Dement is incorrect about the facts and the law. She was given sufficient initial notice as to why she was found to have neglected F.G., and the issues were actually litigated. CP 399, 604, 606-07, 641-42, 685, 694, 770-71. There is no due process claim for this Court to review.

1. Ms. Dement Was fairly Apprised Of The Reason That She Was Found To Have Neglected F.G.

Ms. Dement alleges a conflict between the decision of the Court of Appeals and the U.S. Supreme Court. Pet. Rev. at 7. But there is no such conflict. Ms. Dement appears to argue that due process principles of notice are implicated here because the June 27, 2019 letter did not specify that part of her neglect in failing to supervise F.G. was waiting twelve hours report him missing. Pet. Rev. at 7. However, the notice provided was sufficient to meet constitutional requirements.

Ms. Dement had notice and the opportunity to be heard, the cornerstone of due process. CP 399, 558-761; *In re Hendrickson*, 12 Wn.2d 600, 606, 123 P.2d 322 (1942). Absolute precision of language was not required to give her fair warning of the issues supporting neglect, as illustrated in *Olmstead v. Dep't. of Health*, 61 Wn. App. 888, 812 P.2d 527 (1991). There, a doctor challenged a statement of charges to the Medical Disciplinary Board, arguing he was denied due process

because the statement did not specify he violated a prior agreement by not attending weekly group therapy meetings. *Olmstead*, 61 Wn. App. at 892. The Court disagreed, noting the statement of charges said that Dr. Olmstead had "failed to comply with the requirements of the Washington Monitored Treatment Program and maintain satisfactory status in that program," and one such requirement was the weekly therapy. *Id.* The charges as written "provided sufficient notice for his preparation for the hearing." *Id.*

Similarly, here Ms. Dement was not prejudiced at her hearing or on appeal by the need to explain her actions on April 13, 2019 when F.G. left the facility unaccompanied, despite the lack of specific reference to the delay between first knowing that F.G. was missing and the time she alerted authorities.

Ms. Dement cites *In re Ruffalo*, 390 U.S. 544, 20 L.Ed.2d 117, 88 S.Ct. 1222 (1968) in support of her argument, but this case is markedly different. Pet. Review at 7. In *Ruffalo*, the petitioner faced an amended charge of misconduct during a

disbarment proceeding, and was not given the opportunity to respond. *Ruffalo*, 390 U.S. at 546-50. The Court found due process lacking because the charge was unknown when the quasi-criminal proceeding began, and was only revealed through testimony at the hearing. *Ruffalo*, 390 U.S. at 550-52.

Here, unlike *Ruffalo*, there was one allegation of neglect by Ms. Dement allowing F.G. to leave unsupervised and become a missing person, and the hearing fully explored the contours of the event, including Ms. Dement's long delay in reporting F.G. missing to the case manager and law enforcement. CP 399. There was no lack of notice to Ms. Dement before the hearing; her actions of April 13, 2019 were the center of testimony by all witnesses, consistent with the allegations. CP 399, 558-761.

Ms. Dement was not unfairly surprised at trial, and received full due process notice and opportunity to be heard. *Id*. She has not shown that due process concerns require review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

2. Ms. Dement's Failure To Report F.G. Missing Was Litigated At The Hearing And Was Found In The Initial And Final Orders

The Final Order determines Ms. Dement did not report F.G. missing to police until 10:45 p.m., around the same time she reported to Valley Cities⁴ under F.G.'s CARE plan. CP 156, 163-64. Ms. Dement testified about her calls to Valley Cities and law enforcement, which was evidence showing she delayed far too long at great risk to F.G.'s health, safety, and welfare. CP 74-75, 604, 606-07, 641-42, 685, 694, 770-71.

In deciding that Ms. Dement was neglectful of F.G. under RCW 74.34.020(16)(b), Review Judge Sturges noted that the CARE plan required her to confer with Valley Cities on whether the police should be called for any elopement by F.G. CP 163-64. But because Ms. Dement did not promptly notify either the police or Valley Cities, she effectively ensured no one knew about F.G. being missing and no one was assisting in locating him. The Final Order found that the delay "demonstrated a

⁴ This is the agency where the case manager was employed.

serious disregard of F.G.'s safety, and the health and safety of other individuals that happened to encounter F.G." and "allowed F.G. more time in which to make his ultimately successful 'escape." CP 164.⁵ Ms. Dement has had numerous opportunities to challenge this and other findings, but has not effectively done so through her briefing and argument. *See, e.g.* Petitioner's Opening Brief, Petitioner's Reply Brief; CP 2-4, 177-88. Ms. Dement has not shown a viable due process issue.

Reviewing courts appropriately considered Ms. Dement's twelve-hour delay in alerting authorities that F.G. was missing from the adult family home, implicit in the finding that she was negligent in her supervision of F.G. and addressed at trial and in pleadings following. Slip op. at 7-8; CP 74-75, 604, 606-07, 641-42, 685, 694, 770-71. This Court should deny review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

⁵ The Court of Appeals quoted these findings extensively and with approval in upholding the finding of neglect. Slip. Op at 7.

D. Ms. Dement Presents No Viable Argument That RCW 74.34.020(16)(b) Is Unconstitutionally Vague

Ms. Dement advances two vagueness arguments, but neither warrants review. First, she argues that the use of the term "line of sight" in referring to her duty towards F.G. when out of doors is "unregulated" and vague. Pet. Rev. at 9-10, 14-15. Second, for the first time in her petition for review, Ms. Dement argues that RCW 74.34.020(16)(b) is unconstitutionally vague. Pet. Rev. at 16-24. Both of these vagueness arguments lack merit.

Ms. Dement's attack on terms used to describe her duty of supervision is irrelevant, as the legal inquiry is whether Ms. Dement committed "neglect," as defined in RCW 74.34.020(16)(b); Ms. Dement engaged in neglect even if the challenged term was eliminated from consideration. CP 65-68. And Ms. Dement's argument regarding the constitutionality of RCW 74.34.020(16)(b) is so lacking in substance that it presents no "significant question" under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Pet. Rev. at 16-24. This Court should deny review.

1. Neglect Here Was Based On The Statutory Definition, Not On The Supervision Plan For F.G.

The Court of Appeals correctly observed that Ms.

Dement's premise—that the Board of Appeals defined neglect to require constant monitoring—was incorrect:

The final order utilized the correct definition of negligence under the statute and, as DSHS succinctly puts it in briefing, "The Final Order properly reviews the evidence of the functional limitations for F.G. in determining that what Ms. Dement did in allowing him into the community unsupervised and leaving him there without a law enforcement search for twelve hours was neglectful."

Dement, slip op. at 7-8. This is precisely right. The Final Order found neglect based on the statutory definition in RCW 74.34.020(16)(b), not mere noncompliance with a provision of the CARE plan. The final order was based on Ms. Dement's disregard of serious limitations in the ability of F.G. to function on his own, needing monitoring to prevent dangers that being left alone in the community presented in terms of lack of self-care,

aggression towards or from others, and lack of awareness of surroundings, illustrated by F.G.'s discovery in the middle of traffic. CP 65-68. Ms. Dement was not held to a one-on-one care standard or to constant supervision, just to the standard of refraining from "a serious disregard of consequences of such a magnitude as to constitute a clear and present danger to the vulnerable adult's health, welfare, or safety." RCW 74.34.020(16)(b); CP 64-68. Ms. Dement's constitutional and statutory arguments based on phrases like "line of sight" are not viable.

This Court should not accept review under RAP 13.4(b) to address the unremarkable decision by the Court of Appeals that the findings of neglect here were made by applying the relevant facts to the statute rather than to a CARE plan or other Department regulation.

2. Ms. Dement Has Not Shown That RCW 74.34.020(16)(b) Is Too Vague To Be Understood

Ms. Dement fails to identify any significant issue of constitutional law at issue in this case. Pet. Rev. at 3, 5-8, 16-24. Her arguments here present different constitutional claims than those the Court of Appeals declined to consider because she failed "to engage with the proper constitutional tests for such challenges." *Dement*, slip op. at 3-4, fn. 2. Her new vagueness challenge to RCW 74.34.020(16)(b) similarly lacks supported argument or analysis, and provides no basis for review by this Court. Pet. Rev. at 3, 5-8, 16-24

RCW 74.34.020(16)(b) is presumed constitutional, and it is Ms. Dement's burden to prove vagueness beyond a reasonable doubt. *Haley v. Medical Disciplinary Bd.*, 117 Wn.2d 720, 739, 818 P.2d 1062 (1991). To do so, she must establish "that persons of common intelligence must necessarily guess at [the staute's] meaning and differ as to its application." *Id.* But "a statute is not unconstitutionally vague merely because a person cannot predict with complete certainty the exact point at which his actions

would be classified as prohibited conduct." *City of Seattle v. Eze*, 111 Wn.2d 22, 26-27, 759 P.2d 366 (1988) (citations omitted).

Ms. Dement does not come close to meeting her burden here, and so does not establish a "significant question" under RAP 13.4(b)(3). She cites two U.S. Supreme Court decisions in support of her vagueness challenge, but neither touches on vagueness. Pet. Rev. at 17, 22-23. The first of these is *Skidmore* et al. v. Swift & Co., 323 U.S. 134, 65 S. Ct. 161, 89 L. Ed. 124 (1944), which involves an action for damages under the Fair Labor Standards Act by employees not being paid for wait time while on call. *Skidmore*, 323 U.S. at 135-36. Skidmore does not discuss the concept of constitutional vagueness at all, and the passage cited by Ms. Dement is a test developed by the U.S. Supreme Court to analyze the weight given to an agency's interpretation of its own policies and regulations. Pet. Rev. at 17. Similarly, Ms. Dement's citation to *Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. NRDC*, 467 U.S. 837, 104 S. Ct. 2778. 81 L. Ed.2d 694 (1984) is to a well-known legal test for according deference to a federal agency's interpretation of a statute it administers. Pet. Rev. at 22-23. These cases say nothing about what might be considered unconstitutional vagueness or help explain how RCW 74.34.020(16)(b) is unconstitutionally vague.

Because Ms. Dement has not adequately supported her vagueness theory, this Court need not consider it,⁶ but even if the claim is taken at face value, Ms. Dement could not prevail. The words of the statute are not confusing, using ordinary and commonplace phrases to define what behavior constitutes neglect:

(16) "Neglect" means . . . an act or omission by a person or entity with a duty of care that demonstrates a serious disregard of consequences of such a magnitude as to constitute a clear and present danger to the vulnerable adult's health, welfare, or safety

⁶ State v. Johnson, 119 Wn.2d 167, 171, 829 P.2d 1082 (1992). "[N]aked castings into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion." *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *In re Rosier*, 105 Wn.2d 606, 616, 717 P.2d 1353 (1986)).

RCW 74.34.020(16)(b). This readily identifies who the statute applies to (those with a duty of care) and narrowly defines the scope of prohibited conduct, limiting it to "a *serious* disregard of consequences" where those consequences "constitute a clear and present danger" to the "health, welfare, or safety" of the vulnerable adult. *Id.* (emphasis added). These are all terms that persons of ordinary intelligence would know and use. Ms. Dement seems to demand in her briefing that the statute spell out every specific act or omission that might fall into the definition of "neglect," but the legislature need not draft the statute to meet such an impossible standard to avoid a vagueness challenge. Pet. Rev. at 16-24.

Regardless, because the statute "clearly applies" to Ms. Dement's conduct, she may not challenge it on vagueness grounds. *See* Haley, 117 Wn.2d at 740. There is no dispute that Ms. Dement had a duty of care with respect to resident F.G. The danger was clear and present because F.G. could not maintain his psychological equilibrium in the community and without

medications, meaning that his two-month journey to Oregon created risks to both him and the public from potential misunderstandings, aggression, and his inability to perceive reality. CP 151, 287-313, 382, 545-56, 576-78, 602-03408. The omission is Ms. Dement's physical absence and lack of supervision over a twelve-hour period, leaving F.G. in a situation that was dangerous in light of his specific vulnerabilities. CP 139-42, 147, 160-65, 433, 545-56, 600-04. Persons of ordinary intelligence can determine that individuals as compromised in their mental health functioning as F.G. would face serious risks when alone in public places.

Review should be denied by this Court because there is no viable vagueness challenge here.

VII. CONCLUSION

The motion for discretionary review does not meet the requirements of RAP 13.4(b), and the Department respectfully requests this Court deny review.

This brief is proportionately spaced using 14-point font

equivalent to Times New Roman and contains 4995 words, excluding those not counted per RAP 18.17(2)(c).

(word count by Microsoft Word).